**Brief of Appellant** 

Filed 01-04-2021

Page 1 of 53

RECEIVED 01-04-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Appeal No. 2020 AP 1406 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC TRYGVE KOTHBAUER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON JULY 27, 2020, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR CHIPPEWA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE STEVEN R. CRAY, PRESIDING

Respectfully Submitted,

ERIC TRYGVE KOTHBAUER, Defendant-Appellant.

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant One South Pinckney Street, Suite 950 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 661-6300

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT AND PREJUDICED MR. KOTHBAUER?
- II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ITS DECISION TO DENY MR. KOTHBAUER'S MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING?

Case 2020AP001406 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 6 of 53

## **Statement on Publication**

Defendant-appellant does not request publication of the opinion in this appeal.

# **Statement on Oral Argument**

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

Case 2020AP001406 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 7 of 53

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On the night of March 23, 2016, at or about 2:07 a.m., Eric Trygve Kothbauer was stopped by Officer Michael Checkalski for failing to stop at a stop sign and conducting an illegal turn. During the course of the investigation, Officer Checkalski expanded the scope of the stop into an investigation for operating while intoxicated (OWI) based upon him noting an odor of intoxicants, Mr. Kothbauer's admission to drinking, and Mr. Kothbauer's driving behavior. After Mr. Kothbauer stepped out of the vehicle, Officer Checkalski asked Mr. Kothbauer if he could conduct a pat down search. Mr. Kothbauer agreed. However, Officer Checkalski did not conduct a pat down search, and instead put his hands directly into Mr. Kothbauer's pockets without first patting him down.

Officer Checkalski then had Mr. Kothbauer perform Standardized Field Sobriety Tests (SFTS).<sup>6</sup> While administering the Walk and Turn test, Mr. Kothbauer informed Officer Checkalski that he had balance issues due to having been the victim of five roadside bombs during his service in Iraq.<sup>7</sup> Mr. Kothbauer asked for an alternative test.<sup>8</sup> Officer Checkalski told Mr. Kothbauer he could do an alternative test if he did not wish to do the Walk and Turn test.<sup>9</sup> Mr. Kothbauer

<sup>1</sup> R.2 at 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> *Id*.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  R.37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> R.2 at 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id.* at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> *Id.*: R.37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> R.2 at 5.

stated he wished to do an alternative test. <sup>10</sup> Following Mr. Kothbauer's performance on the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus (HGN) and One Leg Stand tests, Mr. Kothbauer was placed under arrest for OWI. <sup>11</sup> Mr. Kothbauer was asked to submit to an evidentiary chemical test of his blood, which he did. <sup>12</sup> On April 8, 2016, Officer Checkalski received a copy of the blood results from the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene. <sup>13</sup> The blood results came back at a 0.127 blood alcohol concentration. <sup>14</sup> Based upon these results, Officer Checkalski also issued Mr. Kothbauer a citation for operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration (PAC), as a second offense. <sup>15</sup> This entire incident, from the initial stop to Mr. Kothbauer's arrest, as has been described above, was captured on Officer Checkalski's L3 Dash Cam. <sup>16</sup> This footage does not provide a clear and up-close video of Mr. Kothbauer's eyes. <sup>17</sup>

Mr. Kothbauer was charged with one count of OWI, as a second offense, and one count of PAC, as a second offense, on April 19, 2016.<sup>18</sup> On September 13, 2016, Mr. Kothbauer was appointed trial counsel, who served as Mr. Kothbauer's attorney through trial.<sup>19</sup> On March 27, 2017, trial counsel filed a Motion to Suppress

<sup>10</sup> R.37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> R.2 at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> R.2 at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> R.2 at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> R.37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> R.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> R.17.

Case 2020AP001406 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 9 of 53

Statements, claiming Officer Checkalski attempted to elicit incriminating statements from Mr. Kothbauer without first administering a *Miranda* warning. <sup>20</sup> A letter brief in support of that motion was filed on April 7, 2017. <sup>21</sup> A motion hearing was to be held on the issue of Mr. Kothbauer's statements on May 30, 2017. <sup>22</sup> At the motion hearing, the court asked the State if it was ready to proceed with the scheduled motion hearing, which the State responded it was not. <sup>23</sup> The court stated it could then either grant the motion, or issue a voluntary dismissal. <sup>24</sup> When the court asked trial counsel how it wished to proceed, trial counsel requested the court set the matter out for a motion hearing, as he wanted the issue before the court to be "fleshed out." <sup>25</sup> At the May 30, 2017 hearing, the court advised trial counsel that he could file a motion to dismiss if he wished to be heard on the suppression matter further. <sup>26</sup> Trial counsel filed a motion to dismiss on August 11, 2017. <sup>27</sup>

A motion hearing was held on the issue of the Motion to Suppress Statements and Motion to Dismiss on November 20, 2017, in which Officer Checkalski testified.<sup>28</sup> The court found that the statements made by Mr. Kothbauer and the questions asked by Officer Checkalski did not fall under the custodial interrogation

<sup>20</sup> R.23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> R.24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> R.26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> R.96 at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> *Id.* at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> *Id.* at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> R.28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> R.94.

Case 2020AP001406 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 10 of 53

standard set forth in *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436.<sup>29</sup> As such, the court denied both the Motion to Suppress Statements and Motion to Dismiss. 30 Trial counsel filed a motion for reconsideration on March 7, 2018 regarding the Motion to Suppress Statements and Motion to Dismiss.<sup>31</sup> Trial Counsel argued Officer Checkalski went beyond the time necessary to complete the mission of the traffic stop when he asked Mr. Kothbauer unnecessary and argumentative questions.<sup>32</sup> These questions created an unnecessary delay in the Mr. Kothbauer's stop.<sup>33</sup> Trial counsel asserted "the unnecessary escalation of this stop results in not only a 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment violation, but a 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment violation as well pursuant to the Smith [State v. Smith, 2018 WI ¶ 2, 376 Wis. 2d 86, 905 N.W. 2d 353] case."34 At the time of his filing of the motion for reconsideration, trial counsel attached two disks which contained the L3 Dash Cam footage of Mr. Kothbauer's detention and arrest.<sup>35</sup> The court issued an Order Denying the Defendant's Motion to Reconsider on May 23, 2018. 36 The court stated it reviewed the L3 Dash Cam footage of the incident.<sup>37</sup> The court found when Mr. Kothbauer made incriminatory statements, he was not in custody for purposes of *Miranda*. 38 No other motions to suppress were filed in Mr. Kothbauer's case.

<sup>29</sup> *Id.* at 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> *Id.* at 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> R.35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> R.35 at 2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> *Id.* at 3.

<sup>35</sup> R.37

 $<sup>^{36}</sup>$  R.38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Id.* at 2.

Case 2020AP001406 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 11 of 53

A jury trial was held on April 22, 2019.<sup>39</sup> At the trial, trial counsel asked the judge what was allowed for questioning of the witnesses with respect to Mr. Kothbauer's medical issues. 40 Trial counsel informed the court he was aware that head injuries could cause nystagmus and wanted to know the limitations of questioning. 41 The court informed trial counsel any statements made by Mr. Kothbauer to Officer Checkalski would be admissible, but any statements by any doctors would be hearsay, and Mr. Kothbauer's medical documentation would not be admissible due to there being a lack of foundation. 42 These medical records showed Mr. Kothbauer was diagnosed with a traumatic brain injury caused by an improvised explosive device (IED) explosion in November 2010.<sup>43</sup> His records further showed this incident had given him dizziness, headaches, affected his sleep as well as his balance, and he was found to have a slower than normal perception time along with difficulty activating the correct posture stabilizers to maintain an upright position against an incline or decline in the support surface.<sup>44</sup>

Trial counsel did not subpoena Mr. Kothbauer's physician or other qualifying medical professional, nor did he submit Mr. Kothbauer's medical records to the court or the State in advance. As such, trial counsel was not able to admit any

<sup>39</sup> R.98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> *Id.* at 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> *Id.* at 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> R.79 at 48-50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> *Id.* at 43-45.

Case 2020AP001406 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 12 of 53

medical documentation or testimony relating to Mr. Kothbauer's medical conditions.<sup>45</sup>

At the trial, Officer Checkalski testified. 46 On direct examination, Officer Checkalski stated he had received training in administering field sobriety tests.<sup>47</sup> Officer Checkalski testified he told Mr. Kothbauer he needed to speak with him outside the vehicle based upon Mr. Kothbauer's driving behavior, the fact he had admitted to consuming alcohol, and Officer Checkalski's observations of possible impairment (slow and delayed speech, slow reaction time). 48 Officer Checkalski put Mr. Kothbauer through SFST. On the HGN test, Officer Checkalski testified he noted four clues. 49 On the Walk and Turn test, Officer Checkalski stated he observed Mr. Kothbauer break the instructional stance before Mr. Kothbauer informed Officer Checkalski he had balance issues with his leg.<sup>50</sup> Officer Checkalski testified he did not observe any issues with Mr. Kothbauer that were noticeable with his walking or completing the Walk and Turn test.<sup>51</sup> Officer Checkalski testified that Mr. Kothbauer stated he did not want to complete the test and asked if there was an alternative test he could take, to which Officer Checkalski stated there was not.<sup>52</sup> Officer Checkalski also testified Mr. Kothbauer performed the One Leg Stand test,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> R.98 at 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> *Id.* at 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> *Id.* at 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> *Id.* at 53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> *Id.* at 58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> *Id.* at 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> *Id.* at 61-62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Id.* at 62.

Case 2020AP001406 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 13 of 53

during which he noted multiple clues.<sup>53</sup> Officer Checkalski testified he had Mr. Kothbauer perform an alphabet test, which Mr. Kothbauer successfully completed.<sup>54</sup> After Mr. Kothbauer performed the tests, Officer Checkalski testified that he placed Mr. Kothbauer under arrest for OWI.<sup>55</sup>

On cross examination, trial counsel asked Officer Checkalski if he had performed a pat down search of Mr. Kothbauer. Officer Checkalski testified he asked for Mr. Kothbauer's consent to perform a pat down search, and Mr. Kothbauer consented. Officer Checkalski stated he then performed a pat down search. Trial counsel questioned Officer Checkalski, stating that he did not perform a pat down search, but simply placed his hands directly into the pockets of Mr. Kothbauer. Officer Checkalski stated in response Based on my report, that is when I found the tins of chew. Trial counsel then asked Officer Checkalski if he had reviewed the L3 Dash Cam footage of the arrest prior to his appearance at trial, to which Officer Checkalski stated he had not. Officer Checkalski stated he asked Mr. Kothbauer to step out of the vehicle to speak with him further regarding, yes, the tests or the

<sup>53</sup> *Id.* at 62-64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> *Id.* at 64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> *Id.* at 77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> *Id.* at 78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> *Id*.

<sup>60</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> *Id.* at 79.

Case 2020AP001406 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 14 of 53

observations with intent to, yeah, have Mr. Kothbauer perform tests, if he would consent to [the tests]."62

Officer Checkalski testified he had lost his original report from the night of March 23, 2016, and rewrote possibly two weeks or more after the arrest.<sup>63</sup> Trial counsel was aware that Officer Checkalski had lost his original report, as the report trial counsel had received in discovery was the rewritten report.<sup>64</sup> Officer Checkalski testified Mr. Kothbauer had informed him that he had been injured by five roadside explosives while in Iraq around six years earlier.<sup>65</sup> Officer Checkalski further testified he was aware nystagmus could be caused by something other than intoxication, such as certain health issues.<sup>66</sup> In his closing statement, trial counsel reminded the jury that even though Officer Checkalski was aware of Mr. Kothbauer's physical injuries, he still administered him balance based tests.<sup>67</sup>

Mr. Kothbauer also testified at trial. On direct examination, Mr. Kothbauer testified that while he consented to a pat down search, Officer Checkalski never conducted a pat down search.<sup>68</sup> Mr. Kothbauer testified Mr. Checkalski simply put his hands directly into Mr. Kothbauer's pockets, and that action made him "furious."<sup>69</sup> Mr. Kothbauer also testified that, when he was asked to perform the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> *Id.* at 81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> *Id.* at 87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> *Id.* at 81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> *Id.* at 181.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> *Id.* at 145.

<sup>69</sup> *Id.* 

Case 2020AP001406 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 15 of 53

Walk and Turn test, he informed Officer Checkalski that he would have difficulty due to his injuries.<sup>70</sup>

In its closing, the State used the fact Mr. Kothbauer did not present any documentations about his injuries as evidence Mr. Kothbauer's performance on the SFST were due to intoxication by stating, "Now, he claims that there was leg injuries here, and we don't have any real proof of that other than him saying so." At the conclusion of the trial, the jury returned a verdict of not guilty on the OWI charge and guilty on the PAC charge. The court dismissed the OWI charge on its own motion.

Mr. Kothbauer proceeded to sentencing on May 13, 2019.<sup>73</sup> Mr. Kothbauer was sentenced to ten days in the Chippewa County Jail, a license revocation of twelve months, an interlock order for twelve months, and to pay fines totaling \$1,464.00.<sup>74</sup> Trial counsel filed Mr. Kothbauer's Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief on May 13, 2019.<sup>75</sup> Mr. Kothbauer filed a Motion for Postconviction Relief on April 2, 2020.<sup>76</sup> The State filed its Response to Defendant's Postconviction Motion on May 19, 2020.<sup>77</sup> Mr. Kothbauer filed his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> *Id.* at 147.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> *Id.* at 178.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> *Id.* at 195.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> R.99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> R.63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> R.61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> R.79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> R.81.

Case 2020AP001406 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 16 of 53

Reply Brief on May 22, 2020.<sup>78</sup> The court issued an Order Denying Mr. Kothbauer's Motion for Postconviction Relief without an evidentiary hearing on July 27, 2020.<sup>79</sup>

In his Motion for Postconviction Relief, Mr. Kothbauer alleged that trial counsel was ineffective and his performance was unfairly prejudicial to Mr. Kothbauer. 80 In his Motion for Postconviction Relief, Mr. Kothbauer explained trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file suppression motions on the issues of Officer Checkalski's unlawful search and seizure of Mr. Kothbauer, as well as on the field sobriety tests and the evidence derived from them.<sup>81</sup> Mr. Kothbauer also explained that trial counsel's strategy was ineffective, as trial counsel sought to suppress statements Mr. Kothbauer made based upon a *Miranda* violation when caselaw made it clear he was not in custody and Miranda did not apply.<sup>82</sup> Trial counsel was further ineffective for failing to utilize the L3 Dash Cam footage of Mr. Kothbauer's arrest, as such footage showed Officer Checkalski illegally searched and seized Mr. Kothbauer when he put his hands directly into Mr. Kothbuaer's pockets in lieu of performing the pat down search he was given permission to perform.<sup>83</sup> The footage also showed Officer Checkalski did not properly administer the SFST as required by National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) training.<sup>84</sup> Officer Checkalski did not ask Mr. Kothbauer if he had suffered any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> R.82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> R.87; (App. A-11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> R.79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> *Id.* at 5, 10.

<sup>82</sup> *Id.* at 13.

<sup>83</sup> *Id.* at 15-16; R.37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> *Id.* at 15; R.37.

Case 2020AP001406 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-04-2021 Page 17 of 53

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