Page 1 of 50

RECEIVED 02-04-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2020AP001406-CR

ERIC TRYGVE KOTHBAUER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED 13 MAY 2019, AND AN ORDER DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED 27 JULY 2020 IN CHIPPEWA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, BRANCH III, THE HONOURABLE STEVEN R. CRAY, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE, PRESIDING.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

ROY LA BARTON GAY Asst. District Attorney 711 N. Bridge St. Chippewa Falls, WI 54729 715-726-7740 Respondent's Attorney

ARGUMENT

I. THE BURDEN OF PROOF IS UPON THE DEFENDANT TO PROVE THAT HIS TRIAL ATTORNEY PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND THAT BECAUSE OF THIS DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE, HE WAS PREJUDICED. NONE OF THE ALLEGED ACTS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, INDIVISIBLY OR IN COMBINATION, WERE DEFICIENT. NOR WAS MR. KOTHBAUER PREJUDICED BY ANY OF THESE CLAIMED DEFICIENCIES, INDIVISIBLY OR IN COMBINATION. MR. KOTHBAUER CANNOT MEET HIS BURDEN TO SHOW EITHER DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE OR PREJUDICE.

The test for ineffective assistance of counsel has two prongs. **State v. Byrge**, 225 Wis.2d 702, 719, 594 N.W.2d 388, 395 (Ct. App. 1999), *aff'd*, 2000 WI 101, 237 Wis.2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477. The two prongs are explained below:

The test for deficient performance is whether counsel's representation fell below objective standards of reasonableness. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984). In applying this test, we inquire whether, under the circumstances, counsel's acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance. See id. at 690. Trial counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and to have made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. See id. at 689. We also must be careful to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and

to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. See id. at 689.

As to prejudice, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. See Griffin, 220 Wis.2d at 391, 584 N.W.2d at 135.

Id. at 719, 594 N.W.2d at 394-395.

The court may consider the second prong of this test without deciding the first prong. This second prong requires the defendant to prove that the attorney's deficient performance caused actual prejudice. **State v. Johnson**,153 Wis.2d 121, 128, 449 N.W.2d 845, 848 (1990).

The trial court ruled that there was no illegal search. (R87: 2). The trial court correctly pointed out that Mr. Kothbauer ignored the fact that the search was consensual, and that a consent search is an exception to the rule requiring probable cause to arrest or to the requirement for a search warrant.

A. Attorney Thorson Did Not Provide Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel By Failing To Argue An Illegal Search Requires Suppression. This Argument Lacks Merit. Failure To Raise An Argument Without Merit Is Not A Basis for A Finding Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel.

Page 10 of 50

Mr. Kothbauer argues that the officer exceeded the scope of the consent he was given to do a pat down search. He argues that this action converted the *Terry* stop into a formal arrest, for which the officer lacked probable cause. He argues that because this constituted an unlawful arrest, all the evidence seized after that must be suppressed.

Mr. Kothbauer argues that he was in custody for Fourth Amendment purposes because the officer searched his pockets. He argues that reaching into his pockets exceeded what action is permissible under **Terry v. Ohio** since the officer had no reason to believe he had any weapons. He cites to **State v. Swanson**, 164 Wis.2d 437, 454, 475 N.W.2d 148 (1991), to support this argument. While **Swanson** does say this, it is not applicable to a consent search. As the trial court pointed out, neither is **Terry v. Ohio**, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). (R87: 2).

Consent searches are deemed reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. **State v. Douglas**, 123 Wis.2d 13, 22, 365 N.W.2d 580, 584 (Ct.App.1985) and **State v. Floyd** 2017 WI 78, ¶29, 377 Wis.2d 394, 415-416, 898 N.W.2d

560, 570. "Requesting permission to search a person who has been lawfully seized does not invalidate the person's consent." Id. at ¶32, 377 Wis.2d at 418, 898 N.W.2d at 571-572.

At page 23 of his brief, Mr. Kothbauer concedes that the officer had consent to do the pat down search. But Mr. Kothbauer's then states that "such consent should only be "elicited when an officer reasonably believes an individual to be armed and dangerous." He cites **Terry v. Ohio**, 392 U.S. 1 at page 27, [88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889] (1968). The trial court pointed out that *Terry* was not on point as it addressed a nonconsensual search.

In reviewing the page of the *Terry* opinion to which Mr. Kothbauer cites, nowhere on that page or in the entire opinion does the United States Supreme Court state that an officer CANNOT or SHOULD NOT ask for consent to search a person being detained for an investigative stop unless the officer already had a reasonable and articulable basis to believe the person may be armed and dangerous.

Mr. Kothbauer cites to no other authority that

б

an officer can only ask for consent to do a search only if he or she already has a reasonable suspicion that the person is armed. The fallacy of this argument is self-evident. If an officer already has this reasonable belief, he or she would have no reason to ask for consent. He or she could just do the search for weapons.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that during a traffic stop an officer may ask for consent to do a search for weapons absent such a belief. 2017 WI 78, at ¶28, 377 Wis.2d at 414, 898 N.W.2d at 569-570. Officer safety is an important aspect of a traffic stop's mission. Questions related to officer safety are within the mission of the stop. Id. at ¶26, 377 Wis.2d at 413, 898 N.W.2d at 569. Asking to perform a pat down search is permissible and does not impermissibly prolong the stop. Id. at ¶28, 377 Wis.2d at 414-415, 898 N.W.2d at 569-570.

It is undisputed that the officer asked Mr. Kothbauer's consent to pat down his pockets. It is undisputed that Mr. Kothbauer gave the officer consent

Page 13 of 50

to do the pat down search. At no time has he claimed that this consent was not given voluntarily.

Mr. Kothbauer states that, "[a]s the State did not present any evidence of the officer's subjective or objective belief that Mr. Kothbauer was armed and dangerous, any pat down was unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment's protections against unlawful searches." But this requirement on the officer's part is not relevant in this case. The officer had consent to perform the search.

Mr. Kothbauer's argument stems from a false premise: that there was no consent for a search because the officer could not ask for consent since he did not already have the necessary knowledge needed to perform a non-consensual search.

A pat-down for weapons conducted by police is a search. **State v. Morgan**, 197 Wis.2d 200, 208, 539 N.W.2d 887, 891 (1995). Consequently, a pat-down search must satisfy the reasonableness requirement of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 11, of the Wisconsin Constitution. "A consent search is constitutionally reasonable to the

Page 14 of 50

extent that the search remains within the bounds of the actual consent." **State v. Douglas**, 123 Wis.2d 13, 22, 365 N.W.2d 580, 584 (Ct.App.1985). As part of the weapons frisk, the officer would have been authorized, after feeling a bulge in Mr. Kothbauer's pocket, to determine whether the item was a weapon. *See State v.* **McGill**, 2000 WI 38, ¶34-36, 234 Wis.2d 560, 574-575, 609 N.W.2d 795, 803-804. An officer cannot determine whether certain objects are in fact weapons without removing and examining them. Reaching into a suspects pocket is not a separate search, but a continuation of the pat-down search.

Prior to the search, Mr. Kothbauer twice told the officer that he had some "chew" in his pants pocket. (R:37 at 10:24 & 10:27 of the recording). The officer found a metal object in Mr. Kothbauer's pocket(s). A tin of chew. The officer was justified in checking to see if Mr. Kothbauer was truthful as to what was in his pockets.

Had he done the pat down first, the results would have been the same. The intrusion into Mr. Kothbauer's pockets was still consensual. Additionally a tin of

chew can be used as a weapon or may conceal a weapon such as a razor blade. The officer acted reasonably.

When Mr. Kothbauer gave consent to the officer to perform the pat-down search, he did not limit his consent. When the officer reached into his pockets, he did not object to the officer's action. The officer's action of placing his hands into Mr. Kothbauer's pockets was not a separate investigative intrusion. It was part of the pat-down search to which Mr. Kothbauer consented. By consenting to the pat-down search, Mr. Kothbauer consented to the search of his pockets. The officer did not exceed the scope of the consent.

In its decision, the trial court further noted that Mr. Kothbauer "leaps to the conclusion this search caused an illegal seizure." As the court noted this claim was unsupported by facts or legal authority.

Contrary to Mr. Kothbauer's argument, the officer's action did not transform a non-custodial consent search into custody for Fourth Amendment purposes.

Mr. Kothbauer states that because the officer exceeded the scope of the consent he gave, it led him to believe, "as any reasonable person would", that he was under arrest. (Appellant's Brief at p. 25). What he believed is irrelevant in determining when he was in custody for Fourth Amendment purposes.

The test for determining whether someone is in custody is an objective test. "The standard used to determine the moment of arrest is whether a reasonable person in the defendant's position would have considered himself or herself to be 'in custody,' given the degree of restraint under the circumstances." **State v. Kiekhefer**, 212 Wis.2d 460, 485, 569 N.W.2d 316, 329 (Ct.App.1997). This case cites *State v. Swanson*, 164 Wis.2d 437, 446-47, 475 N.W.2d 148, 152 (1991). In **Swanson**, the Wisconsin Supreme Court adopted the objective test, stating:

For consistency and practical reasons, we now abrogate this subjective test and adopt an objective test which assesses the totality of the circumstances to determine the moment of arrest for fourth amendment purposes. An objective test will provide uniformity and consistency with cases decided by the United States Supreme Court, this court and other federal and state courts.⁵ Furthermore, an objective test will alleviate the need to assess the subjective understandings of the parties and is not wholly dependent on the selfserving declarations of the police officers or suspects. Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 442 n. 35, 104 S.Ct. 3138, 3151 n. 35, 82 L.Ed.2d 317 (1984). [Emphasis added].

164 Wis.2d at 446, 475 N.W.2d at 152.

Mr. Kothbauer's subjective opinion is irrelevant. While his freedom was curtailed, it was not curtailed to the extent one would associate with a formal arrest. **State v. Kilgore**, 2016 WI App. 47, ¶33, 370 Wis.2d 198, 219, 882 N.W.2d 493, 503. "[T]he inability to leave is 'not the determinative consideration.' [cite omitted]". Id. It is only a factor to be considered in determining the "'ultimate' question, whether there was a 'restraint on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest.' [cites omitted]." Id. Under the totality of the circumstances, the facts as cited above, show he was not in custody before or after this consent search. The consent search itself did not change the a Terry seizure into an arrest.

The record, including the L3 Cam recording, (R37), shows that Mr. Kothbauer was not handcuffed until he was formally arrested. At no time was a gun drawn and/or pointed at him. A *Terry* frisk was performed after he was asked by the officer if he could do so and he voluntarily gave consent. It is significant that the officer asked for permission to

perform this pat down search of Mr. Kothbauer's pockets rather than simple did so. Asking for consent itself is evidence he was not in custody. See **State v. Gruen**, 218 Wis.2d 581, 596, 582 N.W.2d 728, 733-734 (1998).

During the entire contact between Mr. Kothbauer and the officers, he was never physically restrained or handcuffed. Mr. Kothbauer was not moved to another location and was not placed into a police vehicle until he was formally arrested. All questioning was performed while Mr. Kothbauer was in his own personal vehicle or on the shoulder of the road behind his vehicle. The officer expressly told Mr. Kothbauer the goal was to determine if he could safely operate his car, and if he could, he would be on his way.

Initially there were two officers. After Mr. Kothbauer began displaying aggressive and belligerent behavior, two additional officers showed up. At no time did any of these officer display a weapon or point a weapon at Mr. Kothbauer. Only Officer Checkalski did any questioning of Mr. Kothbauer and the other three officers maintained a discreet

distance from Mr. Kothbauer until he was placed under arrest.

The period of detention was no more than was necessary to complete the mission of the stop. That mission was to determine if Mr. Kothbauer could safely operate a motor vehicle, and if not, whether he was under the influence of an intoxicant. State v. Smith, 2018 WI 2, ¶21-22, 379 Wis.2d 86, 104-105, 905 N.W.2d 353, 362. The L3 dash cam recording shows that much, if not all, of the delay in completing this mission was occasioned by Mr. Kothbauer's abusive, aggressive and uncooperative behavior. Mr. Kothbauer continually refused to answer legitimate questions designed to answer this enquiry and continued to demand to be told the same information, such as why he was stopped, repeatedly. Officer Checkalski made every effort to complete the mission of the stop within a reasonable period of time. This stop was not unreasonably prolonged by law enforcement. At no point was his freedom of movement restricted to the degree associated with a formal arrest. 2016 WI App. 47, ¶33, 370 Wis.2d at 219, 882 N.W.2d at 503.

Page 20 of 50

Throughout his brief, Mr. Kothbauer continues to refer to his arrest as being illegal. He maintains that the officer did not have sufficient probable cause to arrest him. Although he was not in custody at the time of this consent search or immediately thereafter, when he was actually arrested and told he was under arrest, the officer possessed adequate information to establish probable cause to make a lawful arrest.

At the evidentiary hearing on 20 November 2017 the testimony showed that the officer had more than the odor of an intoxicant upon which to act. (See judge's comment at Status hearing on 30 May 2017, ((R96:3-4). Prior to the stop the officer observed poor driving, which is an indicator that the driver's ability to safely operate a motor vehicle was impaired. Prior to the stop, the officer observed Mr. Kothbauer's speed fluctuating, and two traffic offenses: failure to stop at a stop sign and an illegal left turn from a nonturning lane. (R94:6-7). Mr. Kothbauer has not challenged the legality of the stop.

Upon contact with the vehicle the officer observed the odor of an intoxicant, and that Mr. Kothbauer had

Page 21 of 50

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